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Ottawa, Ontario
—-—— Upon commencing on Thursday, April 4, 2024 at 9:32 a.m.
L"audience débute le jeudi 4 avril 2024 a 9 h 32

THE REGISTRAR: Order, please. A 1’ordre,
s'il vous plait.

This sitting of the Foreign Interference
Commission is now in session. Commissioner Hogue is
presiding.

Cette séance de la Commission sur 1'ingérence
étrangere est maintenant en cours. La Commissaire Hogue
préside.

The time is 9:32 a.m. Il est 9 h 32.

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: Alors, bonjour tout le
monde. On s’attendait a 25 centimétres de neige, on y a
échappé, Jje pense.

Alors, ce matin, c’est Me MacKay qui débute.

And good morning to you.

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: BRonjour, Madame la
commissaire. Jean-Philippe MacKay pour la Commission.

Commissioner, the witnesses before you this
morning are Mr. David Morrison and Ms. Cindy Termorshuizen.
And I would ask the witnesses be sworn or affirmed, plese.

THE REGISTRAR: Mr. Morrison, would you
prefer to be sworn or affirmed?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Affirmed, please.

THE REGISTRAR: Could you please state your
name and spell your last name for the record.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yeah. My name is David
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2 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

Morrison. My last name is spelled M-O-R-R-I-S-0O-N.

--- MR. DAVID MORRISON, Affirmed:

THE REGISTRAR: And will you, Ms. -- I forget
your last name, but ---

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Termorshuizen.

THE REGISTRAR: Thank you very much. Could
you please state your full name and spell your last name for
the record.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Yes. Cindy
Termorshuizen, and the spelling of the last name is
T-E-R-M-0O-R-S-H-U-I-Z-E-N.

THE REGISTRAR: Okay. And will you be
affirming or swearing in?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: I will be
affirming.

THE REGISTRAR: Okay.

--- MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN, Affirmed:

--- EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY/INTERROGATOIRE EN CHEF PAR

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY:

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Mr. Court
Operator, can you pull up document WIT 37, please.

--- EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. WIT 37:

Public Summary of the Classified
Interview of: Global Affairs Canada
(Marta Morgan, Cindy Termoshuizen,
Philippe Lafortune, Tara Denham, Gallit
Dobner)

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: So Ms.
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3 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

Termorshuizen, do you recall being interviewed by Commission
Counsel in a classified setting on February the 9th, 2024,
with various individuals whose names appear on this document?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Yes, I do.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Have you reviewed
this document before this morning?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Yes, I do. Yes, I
have.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: And do you have
any corrections, additions, or deletions that you would like
to make to this document?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: I have no
corrections.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Okay. And is it a
reflection of the information you have given to the
Commission?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Yes, it's a
reflection of the information I gave.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Okay.

Now, Mr. Court Operator, can you pull up
CAN.DOC 7, please.

--- EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN.DOC 7:

Global Affairs Canada (GAC)
Institutional Report - UNCLASSIFIED
MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY:
Madam Commissioner, this is the institutional report prepared
by Global Affairs Canada, GAC.

Both of you, have you had the chance to



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

4 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

review the document before this morning?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Yes.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: And can you
confirm that GAC prepared the report and that it represents
GAC's evidence before the Commission?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: So this document
will be filed along an annex identified as CAN.DOC 7.001.

If we can pull that up, please.

--— EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN.DOC 7.001:

Annex to the GAC Institutional Report
- UNCLASSIFIED
MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: So the same is
true for the annex, the unclassified annex that we see here.
This was prepared by GAC, and you confirm that it represents
GAC's evidence before the Commission?
MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes, I do.
MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Okay. So
Madam Commissioner, we don't need to pull the French versions
of those documents up, but they will be filed as CAN.DOC 8.0
-— CAN.DOC 8 and CAN.DOC 8.001. So both the report and the
annex are filed before you in their French version.

--- EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN.DOC 8:

Affaires Mondiales Canada (AMC)
Rapport Institutionnel - NON
CLASSIFIE

-—— EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN.DOC 8.001:
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5 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

Annexe du Rapport Institutionnel
d'Affaires Mondiales Canada (AMC) -
NON CLASSIFIE

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Thank you.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: And before I
begin, Madam Commissioner, I'd like to say a word about the
scope of this examination.

The witnesses before you today will testify
concerning the distinction between foreign interference and
foreign influence. That is the scope of the examination.
Other areas of GAC's mandate and activities may be relevant
to other aspects of your mandate, but this evidence will not
be heard today through those witnesses.

Other GAC witnesses will be appearing before
you tomorrow and next week to discuss topics related to the
Panel of Five, the SITE Task Force, and the Rapid Response
Mechanism in relation to general elections in 2019, 2021.
And Mr. Morrison will be back with us on Monday to testify in
relation to his participation on the Panel of Five in 2021 in
his role as a former national security and intelligence
advisor to the Prime Minister.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Thank you.

Me GUILLAUME SIROIS: Guillaume Sirois pour
1’Alliance des Russes du Canada.

J’aurais un point de questions avant qgu’on
commence, si vous le permettez, Madame la commissaire.

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: Allez-y, puls je verrai

si c’est opportun d’en discuter maintenant.
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6 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

Me GUILLAUME SIROIS: Merci.

Dans le résumé d’entrevue qui a été soumis
hier soir a 10 heures, on mentionne qu’il a été déposé en
preuve lors des audiences a huis clos de la Commission qui
ont été tenues en février et mars 2024. J’ai pas trouvé de
résumé de ces audiences a huis clos la dans le Party
database. Je me demande s’il a été produit ou quand il va
étre produit, le cas échéant.

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: Si je peux me
permettre, Madame la commissaire.

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: Oui, allez-y, Maitre
MacKay.

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: La raison est que
cette question-la par rapport a.. en fait, les témoins
d’Affaires mondiales Canada n’ont pas comparu lors de ces
audiences, donc madame Termorshuizen n’était pas un témoin
lors des audiences.

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: Ca répond a votre
question?

Me GUILLAUME SIROIS: Peut-étre juste une
question de clarification encore. Si un.. je comprenais qu’un
résumé d’entrevue était déposé en preuve par le témoin qui
avait fait 1’entrevue, donc j’ai un peu de difficulté a
comprendre comment ce résumé d’entrevue la peut Etre mis en
preuve alors qu’il concerne le témoignage de madame Cindy
Termorshuizen, si madame Cindy Termorshuizen n’était pas
présente lors de 1’audience.

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: En fait, Madame la
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7 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

commissaire, le document que vous avez, WIT 37, est un résumé
d’entrevue.

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: D’entrevue.

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: ..et non un résumé
d’interrogatoire a huis clos, et simplement pour fins
d’information pour mon confrére, madame Morgan, madame
Denham, madame Dobner seront des témoins devant vous au
courant de cette ronde d’audiences, et pour ce qui est de
monsieur Lafortune, un affidavit sera déposé devant vous
également. Donc, pour les fins du document, oui, il est en
preuve devant vous en ce qui concerne madame Termorshuizen,
mais pour les autres témoins, ils vont.. on va faire la méme
procédure avec ces témoins-la et ils nous diront s’ils
adoptent ou non ou s’ils ont des corrections a apporter aux
documents.

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: D’accord. Et les
sommaires des audiences a huis clos en ce qui concerne ces
témoins-1a seront déposés en temps..

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: En temps..

COMMISSAIRE HOGUE: ..en temps opportun.

Me JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: Absolument, Madame
la commissaire. Donc..

I will begin my examination with a general
qguestion concerning your current roles within GAC.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: I am currently the
Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs at Global Affairs Canada.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: And I’m the

Associate Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs and also the G7
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8 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

Personal Representative of the Prime Minister.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: And when were you
appointed in those positions?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: I was appointed in
October 2022 to my current position.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: And I was appointed
in January 2022 as Associate Deputy Minister of Foreign
Affairs.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: And if we can pull
up CAN.DOC 7, please. 1It’s the institutional report. And
I’11 bring you to page 2 of that document.

I’11 just give a moment to Mr. Court Operator
to pull it up.

So at the beginning of page 2. Thank you.

We see that the first topic addressed in the
institutional report is an overview of GAC’s mandate. Could
you please -- you can refer to the document, but you can also
just explain what is the mandate and what are the activities,
broadly, that GAC is undertaking?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Thank you.

GAC is, as the document says, responsible for

the conduct of Canada’s international relations for advancing

Canada’s international relations. Every country in the world
has a foreign ministry. In Canada it’s called Global Affairs
Canada.

We are a little bit unique in that we have a
very broad mandate. We have three Ministers responsible for

three parts of our overall mandate to advance international
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9 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

relations.

There’s the Foreign Minister, who takes the
lead on foreign policy. There’s the Trade Minister, who
takes the lead on international trade policy and the
promotion of Canadian exports abroad and the attraction of
investment into Canada. And there’s the Minister of
International Development, who oversees Canada’s spending
around the world.

All of this is to the greater objective of

promoting and protecting Canada’s prosperity and security.

One final part of the -- two final parts of
the mandate. The first is consular affairs. We are
responsible -- through our network of missions around the

world represented in 112 countries with about 180 offices, we
are responsible for looking after Canadians in distress, so
that may be a new passport, it may be an evacuation such as
we’re doing in Haiti as we speak.

The final part of the mandate has to do with
assistance and support for foreign embassies here in Canada,
so embassies, consulates, consulates general, high
commissions. Just for the record, an embassy or a high
commission is in a capital city. Consulates tend to be
across the country. So Global Affairs Canada has a liaison
function with diplomates posted here in Canada and foreign
ministries around the world perform that same function for
our diplomats posted abroad.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: I will take you to

document CANQ008822. Can we pull it up, please?
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10 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
In-Ch (MacKay)

--- EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN 8822:

Influence and Interference:
distinctions in the context of
diplomatic relations and democratic
processes

COURT OPERATOR: Can you repeat that again,
please?

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: 8822.

Do you recognize this document?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: Okay. ©So we see -
- we can scroll down a little bit, please.

Thank you.

We see here definitions, interference, malign
foreign influence and foreign influence. Could you please
describe those notions for us, please?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes, I will. And I’11
begin with foreign influence because that is the business of
diplomacy.

Canada has diplomats all over the world. We
pay them to develop relationships, to build networks, to get
to know everyone they can in a -- in the country to which
they’re posted, call it Guatemala, so that they can have
influence. So there’s an old joke about diplomacy is letting
the other fellow have things your way. That’s about
influence. So we have diplomats posted around the world so
that we can promote and protect Canada’s interests with

proactively by encouraging governments and others,
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influencers within society to take positions or defensively,
dissuading for -- from taking positions that would be
contrary to Canada’s interest.

We do this in a general sense. We want
Canada to be well thought of around the world. I said we’re
-— or 1’11 say we’re a trading nation, so our reputation
abroad matters. It matters to whether students want to come
here, whether people want to trade with us, whether people
want to invest in Canada.

So there’s broad foreign policy goals around
broad issues like climate change.

We also try to exercise influence against
very specific objectives that come up in all countries from
time to time. The first example I will give is at the United
Nations every fall, Canada leads on a resolution to condemn
Iran’s human rights record. So we do that through building
relationships all year long that can then be deployed when
that issue comes to a wvote.

Another example which I think is given in the
paper that is in front of us is when we do a trade agreement.
We negotiate the agreement, we sign the agreement with the
counterpart government, but very often then that agreement
has to pass through a legislative process. So we seek to
have influence with the people that will eventually be voting
for or against the trade agreement that the executive of the
government has signed.

So we target all kinds of influencers on that

decision, be they legislators, be they staff members of
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legislators. In some cases, it may be a mayor or a farmers’
group, depending on exactly the issue before us in the trade
agreement.

I mentioned the evacuation that is going on
right now in Haiti as part of our consulate functions. We
have needed to exercise our influence with the government of
the Dominican Republic because up until very recently, we
were taking people out of the embassy in Port-au-Prince and
flying them into the territory of the Dominican Republic for
onward transport to Santo Domingo, so we need to use those --
that influence and those relationships with government
authorities in the neighbouring country to Haiti.

There’s another example in the paper in front
of us about the White Helmets, which were a group of human
rights workers in Syria that we had to bring all of the
influence we had to bear in the course of a very constrained
two-day period when everything came together on a single
night to ensure that those human rights workers who had saved
lives could be let out of Syria, cross a third country and
into Jordan where they ended up. And we -- there’s some of
the document redacted, but we pulled out all of the -- pulled
out all of the stops in terms of using our influence with
three governments in that case in order to effectuate that
evacuation.

So that’s -- those are examples of how
diplomats use influence.

If I might, I would say that -- I would say

two final things. The influence doesn’t happen by accident.
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It is in the nature of any relationship, you need to have
laid the track, you need to have built up the relationship
over time in order to be able to deploy the influence.

And you know, there was a program some time
ago when we were trying to get out the word about Canada’s
fossil fuel industry. We flew congressional staffers up from
Washington to the 0il sands in Alberta so that they could see
that -- so that they could see that for themselves. We paid
their way up so that they could not be unduly influenced by
other forms of information. They could see things
themselves. So there’s nothing untoward about paying, as
long as it is overt.

It’s sometimes not very polite when I mention
trade agreements. We threaten retaliation when we’re doing
trade agreements. We put up lists of products publicly that
we’ll retaliate against if things don’t go our way. It’s a
contact sport sometimes and we go into the corners with our
elbows up when Canada’s interests are at threat.

But Canadian diplomats -- it’s not always in
the public domain. We do do things behind closed doors. But
we don’t do things covertly. We don’t do things
clandestinely. And we don’t threaten people. We don’t say,
“If you don’t vote for this Canadian trade agreement, the
following will happen to your family.”

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: And I presume that
what you describe as being the conduct that Canada’s adopting
in its diplomatic relations, those rules are -- derive from

certain sources, international sources, that also apply to
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diplomats working in Canada? That’s correct?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Absolutely.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: Okay.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: I have one question. 1Is
there any limitation as to what the diplomats can do in that
context? If it’s an electoral context in the foreign country
where they are located?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: We will never get
involved in the election of a foreign country. And my
colleague Cindy can take us through the relevant parts of the
Vienna Convention, which is the covenant that governs
diplomatic behaviour that is in bounds and diplomatic
behaviour that is out of bounds and we would argue crosses
the line into foreign interference.

We can -- all diplomats cover elections.
Diplomats can go and report on electoral events. As we all
know, 2024 is a year that will have a huge number of
elections. Some of them very consequential for Canadian
interests. So I can guarantee you that our teams, for
example, across the United States, are covering the election
very closely.

Our Ambassador to the United States has, in
the past, attended the nominating conventions of the
political parties in the United States.

But no Canadian diplomat will ever suggest to
foreigners how they should vote. ©No Canadian diplomat will
ever get financially involved in another country’s election.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: But can they try to
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influence the way people will vote?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: No.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: No?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: No, they cannot. They
can speculate on who might win, which is kind of a water
cooler activity throughout the world. They can opine on
whether if Party A wins, as opposed to Party B, that would be
better or worse for their country’s interests, but they must
refrain from making public statements and they must refrain
from getting directly involved.

And again, Cindy, will take us through what
we remind diplomats in Canada of before every General
Election, which is it’s simply reminding them of the rules
that they’re meant to abide by at all times.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Okay. So their role is
much more limited when there’s an election going on abroad?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes. They are meant to
be very very cautious. We don’t take kindly when diplomats
opine on our democratic processes at any time, but we
explicitly remind them not to get involved in our elections.

I distinguish that from policy positions.
Diplomats might like or not like what Canada is -- a law
Canada is going to pass or is thinking of passing. That’s
advocacy, and if it’s done openly. Advocacy and lobbying are
very close. That’s the business of diplomats. But getting
involved in the outcome of an election is off bounds.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: If I may,

Commissioner, your question is a good segue for the next
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document.
If we can pull up CAN55517? CANbSbL51.

--- EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN 5551:

REMINDER: UPCOMING FEDERAL ELECTIONS:
Non-interference by foreigners in
Canadian elections | RAPPEL:
PROCHAINES ELECTIONS FEDERALES: Non-
ingérence étrangere dans les
élections canadiennes
MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MacKAY: And as Mr.
Morrison mentioned, this question is for you, Ms.
Termorshuizen. It’s a notice to Diplomatic Corps in the
context of the General Election in 2019.
If we can scroll down a little bit, please?

So just briefly, we had a preview from Mr.

Morrison briefly what is this document. And could you please
expand on this? My time is almost up. I have, like, seven
minutes left. So I’'1ll invite you to answer that question

within the five to seven minutes.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Okay. Great.

Thank you. So yes, indeed. 1In advance of both the 2019 and
2021 elections, a notice like this was sent out to the entire
diplomatic corps.

And as Mr. Morrison said earlier, one of the
responsibilities of Global Affairs Canada is to provide the
supports for the diplomatic and consular community here in
Canada.

There are about 8,000 diplomatic and consular
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officials in Canada, so it’s a large group of people. We
have a variety of responsibilities around them, but one of
the things we do is provide information to them about a range
of issues. And we have a tradition of sending out a message
in advance of an election to ensure that diplomats and
consular officials are reminded of the particular constraints
we expect them to abide by in an electoral period, given the
sensitivities that Mr. Morrison has just spoken about.

The basis upon which we do this is the Vienna
Convention on Diplomatic Relations and the Vienna Convention
on Consular Relations. These two conventions are enshrined
in Canadian law under the Foreign Missions and International
Organizations Act. And those conventions prohibit
interference in the internal affairs of the state in which
diplomats and consular officials are located.

And so with respect to electoral periods in
particular, the notice, for instance, and you’ll see that in
the first paragraphs, makes clear that diplomatic and
consular representatives should not conduct activities which
could be perceived as inducing electors to vote for a
particular candidate, or prohibiting them from voting for a
candidate in any way during an election period.

And then we also note in the message that
they are prohibited from making financial contributions to a
candidate, political party, or political event.

So we’re quite specific here because we want
to be clear on, in Canada, what we -- what our kind of

detailed understanding is of that requirement not to
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interfere in the internal affairs of the state.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: 1I’'m just curious. Do
you know how many countries signed these two conventions?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: I don’t.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Roughly. Roughly. Are
we talking about a large number of countries throughout the
world? Or ---

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: I would suspect so,
but I don’t the exact numbers.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: You don’t know.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: I think it would be safe
to say that almost every single country in the world is a
party, because these conventions, the larger conventions of
the -- that govern diplomatic relations and consular
relations, are the conventions that give effect to diplomatic
communities. So if you’re not a party, you’re not sending
people abroad.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: I see.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: So I think we can safely
assume that every country or almost every country.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Thank you.

MR. JEAN-PHILLIPE MacKAY: And
notwithstanding the international law, diplomats and
officials working in Canada must respect the host state’s
laws and —---

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Correct. And that

applies to Canadian diplomats and consular officials abroad
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as well with respect to the laws of the countries to which
they are assigned.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: So unless my lead
counsel has a note for me.... Yeah, we'll go back to the
discussion about foreign interference and foreign influence
and malign foreign influence.

Mr. Morrison, you provided explanations, but
could you go back, either of you, on the distinction between
those notions and how foreign influence can slide into malign
foreign influence and then into foreign interference?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Sure. The difference,
and I hope it was implied in what I said in my original
remarks, i1s that foreign interference is covert, which you
could take that to mean deceptive, it is clandestine, which
you could take that to mean as entirely secret, or it
involves threats to an individual.

Now, clearly there -- an example of
clandestine foreign interference would be secretly funding a
political party for a candidate. Covert would be disguising
the fact that you are funding a candidate by having the
funding run through an entirely legitimate person or
organisation, like a proxy, in the -- is the term that we
use. And a threat would be "If you don't vote, or if you
vote one way or another on a certain bill, we will ensure
your relatives don't get a visa so they can't visit you or
your offspring are denied a place in university."

Your question had to do with also malign

foreign influence, or this middle ground, which makes it hard
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sometimes to distinguish what is foreign interference and
what is not foreign interference. So an example I would give
is during an election campaign a diplomat posted in Canada
attends a community event. A diaspora community has an event
in a banquet hall and the diplomat attends that. There's
nothing wrong with that, even during a writ period. 1It's not
an explicitly political event, it's Jjust an event.

If the person stands up and makes a speech
and says, "vote for this party and not that party", that's
foreign interference. If the person goes into a back room
and meets with candidates, we don't know unless, unless we
know exactly what was said. And in general diplomats should

not be meeting privately with candidates during an election

campaign.

So there is kind of a ambiguous area or a
grey zone where legitimate diplomatic activity can be -- can
transition into -- can transition into foreign interference.

I'll give you one more example, and that
would an academic who writes op-eds or articles or is
interviewed, and adopts -- and advocates policies very much
in line with a foreign government, and we know that that
diplomat has a relationship with the representatives of that
foreign government in Canada. That academic may simply share
the ideological view, maybe there is a free trip in it for
that person, but maybe that person has a reason for wanting
to visit the country anyhow.

So we need to be very cautious when assuming

that because somebody meets with a diplomat that is -- even a
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diplomat from a country that doesn't share values with
Canada, that is necessarily nefarious. A person might attend
a community meeting at the bidding of a diplomat, or they may
be starting a business, and they may be handing out business
cards in support of that business, or it may be a combination
of the two.

So it's -- there is an area of ambiguity, I
would say, between clear-cut diplomacy, and the business of
influence, and clear-cut foreign interference, which is
against the relevant conventions and laws.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Do you have
anything to add to that, Ms. Termorshuizen?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: No. Thank you.

MR. JEAN-PHILIPPE MACKAY: Those were my
questions, Madam Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Thank you.

So first cross-examination will be conducted
by Human Rights Coalition.

-—-- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR

MS. HANNAH TAYLOR:

MS. HANNAH TAYLOR: Good morning. Could I
ask the Court Operator to please call up CAN 008822.

My friend pulled it up this morning, and I
believe we confirmed you're familiar, but you can correct me,
of course.

If we could turn to page 3, please.

There is a header...

Right there.
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...Examples of Canada's Foreign Influence In
Other Countries, and then a number of examples, of course.
And then if we scroll to page 4, we see a section called
Lines That Canada Never Crosses. And the final line...

A little lower.

Then the final line there reads:

"Canada never engages into
transnational repression, i.e.
intimidating or threatening
individuals, or coercing them to take
particular action."

You would agree this is because transnational
repression is a form of foreign interference and/or malign
foreign influence?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes.

MS. HANNAH TAYLOR: We heard earlier this
week from Mr. Mehmet Tohti, who's a Uyghur activist in
Canada, who told us that last year, right before he was meant
to appear in Parliament for the vote on M-62 -- on the M-62
motion for the resettlement Uyghur refugees in Canada, he
received a call from Chinese State Police. The police put a
relative of his on the phone, who told Mehmet that his mother
and two sisters were dead. Mr. Tohti explained that this
call was meant to send a message to him, implying that this
is the cost he would keep paying if he continued his
advocacy.

Is this foreign interference?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

23 MORRISON/TERMORSHUIZEN
Cr-Ex (Taylor)

MS. HANNAH TAYLOR: 1I'll pose a hypothetical
to you. Say a campaign volunteer goes to a community member
and says, "You better not vote for a certain candidate."

They don't say explicitly "or else there will be
repercussions for your loved ones back home." Is this
foreign interference?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: The question of whether
someone directs voting or simply implies the way they would
like you to vote is -- is a tricky one to answer. The threat
or the -- an -- a threat, explicit or implied, in my books
would put that over the line into foreign interference.

MS. HANNAH TAYLOR: And one more
hypothetical. Say that person then goes to another community
member and talks about the experience, and that second
community member feels pressured to do the same, though no
one ever spoke to them directly about it. 1Is this foreign
interference?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: I don't think that's
direct foreign interference, but I think the essence of the
question gets to what, in my personal view, is an -- a aspect
of foreign interference and the ecosystem around foreign
interference, which is not well enough understood in Canada.
The chilling effect is how I would think of it.

It was meant to have been the second part of
the mandate of the independent special rapporteur that took -
- whose work took place a year ago, and I know it's a larger
area that this Commission will get into. It is not right

that certain people in Canada, Canadian citizens, or
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permanent residents of Canada, should feel any fear, fear of
repression for exercising the rights that all Canadians
should enjoy.

MS. HANNAH TAYLOR: Thank you very much.

Thank you, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Thank you.

Next one is RCDA.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Good morning.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Good morning.

—--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS:

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: I want to discuss
about -- I'm Guillaume Sirois, counsel for the RCDA.

I want to discuss about social media or
internet influence campaigns by foreign state actors.

Do you believe that the identification of
divisive events and trends in rival states to conduct
influence campaigns by Russia, for instance, would constitute
foreign interference?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: So your question is
about internet campaigns and promoting divisions within
societies, and you’re clear that that internet campaign is
sponsored by Russia. I just want to make certain I’ve
understood your ---

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Yes. Let’s say
there’s -- for now, let’s assume there’s a clear link between
Russia and this influence campaign. For instance, we see

that it’s a URL that links to the Russian Federation, for
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instance.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Yes. State-sponsored
disinformation that is designed to sew cleavages within
societies, democratic societies like Canada, that is foreign
interference.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: And let’s say that --
trying to blur the lines a little bit. Let’s say there was
no direct link with Russia because there was no, for
instance, URL that links to the Russian Federation. But
let’s say it was a lot of social media accounts that seem
friendly to Russia but that are based in Canada that promote
these divisive events and trends on the social media at a
large scale. Would that possibly constitute foreign
interference as well?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: That could constitute
foreign interference if it was more likely than not that the
amplification of the information was being done
inauthentically, whether from abroad or here in Canada.

I think you said that the accounts were here
in Canada.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Okay. And how does --
how can we determine that this influence campaign is done
inauthentically rather than an authentic campaign?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: 1It’s challenging. The
online space is challenging, including during electoral
campaigns. There are —-- there is a body of scholarship
existing in Canada at places 1like McGill and the University

of Toronto that has devised methodologies to try to be able
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to determine with some degree of certainty whether something
is -- simply goes wviral, which I would call organic. It’s a
topical issue and people are interested, especially in an
election campaign, in discussing things about the election.
Or whether it is being inauthentically amplified by people
that aren’t even people, bots or, in other cases, people that
are, for example, working for a foreign government and
deliberately amping up information which is -- might be
misinformation which is simply erroneous information or it
might be disinformation, which is information that is
deliberately designed to -- well, it’s fake, it’s false.
It’s deliberately designed to distort and create impressions
that are incorrect.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Okay. I want to show
you a document. It’s CAN 000134, just to give you a concrete
example of what the Commission will be dealing with.

-—— EXHIBIT No./PIECE No. CAN 134:

RRM Canada Weekly Trend Analysis

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: It’s at page 2. And
again, it’s on the same topic.

We see here that there’s —-- there has been
reports of Russia-friendly accounts on the internet
amplifying People’s Party of Canada related content in the
final weeks leading up to the election, 2021.

I’'m giving you the time to read the document.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Okay.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Do you see any

indications that there may be foreign interference?
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MR. DAVID MORRISON: I’'m not certain that in
this short write-up there’s enough information. It says
Russian-friendly accounts. There can be Canadian citizens
and permanent residents in Canada that are friendly to Russia
and they might simply agree with something and, therefore,
reTweet it or whatever the equivalent is on Yonder.

And again, Jjust in terms of the lack of
certainty here, the end of the sentence says “RRM Canada
judges that, at the individual account level, analytic
confidence of attribution is low”, so this can’t necessarily
be tied directly back to Russia. And it says they hope that
confidence will grow in the future.

So the online space is, I would say,
devilishly difficult because you need to make a tie to a
foreign government and there’s a -- Canadian citizens in an
electoral context are allowed to talk about the election and
they are allowed to have a full range of views on electoral
issues and they are allowed to debate and explain those views
online.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: And actually, in Canada,
freedom of expression is protected.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: So you have to take into
consideration, I guess?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: We absolutely have to
take that right of Canadians and permanent residents, people
living in Canada into account. So while some people might

think something is linked to a foreign government or being
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inauthentically amplified, actually, acting without a certain
degree of confidence might deny Canadians their right to
freedom of expression. And that’s a right that I would argue
is particularly important in the context of Canada’s
democratic institutions and especially during an election
campaign.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: And I'm almost done,
but I have like maybe one or two questions more.

The paragraph also says that there is more
engagement from accounts that generally amplify Russian state
forces and also, as you noted, analytic confidence should
increase with aggregate monitoring of many accounts.

I think you concur that this, in itself, does
not constitute foreign interference, but is it enough to
justify inquiring further into the situation maybe to try to
find a link or attribute this campaign to the Russian
government?

MR. DAVID MORRISON: So there’s a group of
people that are going to appear before the Commission
tomorrow from the SITE Task Forces for the 2019 and the 2021
elections, and I think you would be better placed to pose
those questions to the real experts. RRM, which is one of
the entities that monitors the online space, is part of
Global Affairs, which is why I have gone ahead and answered
your questions, but whether there emerged a greater degree of
certainty on the Russia-friendly accounts that you’re
inquiring about I think is a question better put to the SITE

Task Force tomorrow.
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MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Okay. Then this will
be my last question.

On the very specific subject matter of your
testimony today, the difference between foreign influence and
foreign interference, can we say, at the very least, that
this is maybe on the fence both definitions? It’s not
clearly foreign influence, it’s not clearly legitimate, it’s
not clearly —---

MR. DAVID MORRISON: I simply do not have
enough information to say. I didn’t -- I’ve forgotten what’s
at the top of whether this is a weekly report or a daily
report.

MR. GUILLAUME SIROIS: Weekly.

MR. DAVID MORRISON: Okay. It is not -- it
is not an issue that I believe emerged as a significant
issue. We have a summary —-- or a summary was produced as
part of the papers produced for this Commission that does go
into some detail on a couple of incidents that did seem to be
at least potentially significant. This wasn’t one of them.

MR. SIROIS: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER HOGUE: Thank you.

Counsel for Jenny Kwan.

-—-- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY:

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: Good morning. For the
record, my name is Sujit Choudhry; I’'m counsel for Jenny
Kwan.

So I'd like to take the panel to a document
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that Commission counsel put up, which is the Note to the
Diplomatic Corps, if we may.

And so Mr. Registrar, that’s CAN 5551. Thank
you.

And so just to kind of reiterate, so in the
first paragraph this Note to the Diplomatic Corps invokes and
reminds them of their obligations under Articles 41 of the
Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, and Article 55 on
the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations; correct?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Correct.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: And it’s also your
evidence that those two -- the relevant portions of those two
conventions have been incorporated into domestic law by a
federal statute.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Correct.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: Right, the Foreign
Missions and International Organizations Act.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Correct.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: Good. So now can we
scroll down to the second paragraph that we didn’t discuss
but I just want to draw your attention to it?

So if you look three lines from the bottom,
is it true that in this paragraph you also bring to the
attention of the Diplomatic Corps certain provisions of the
Canada Elections Act.

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: That’s correct.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: And could you please

explain what those provisions are, and why you brought them
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to the attention of the Diplomatic Corps?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: I mean, what was
important for us is just to draw the attention of the
Diplomatic Corps to the various provisions in Canadian law
with respect to elections, and the prohibitions in those. So
in the Canada Elections Act there are specific provisions,
for instance, with respect to foreign financing of campaigns
and so on.

So we wanted to ensure that if diplomats were
not already familiar with that legislation, that they were
given an opportunity to familiarize themselves with it, given
that we were entering a writ period at the time that this
documentation was sent out to all missions.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: So if foreign diplomats,
then, violate Articles 41 or 55 of the two Vienna
Conventions, or i1f they violate these provisions of the
Canada Elections Act, they are breaking the law, is that
right?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Yes.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: And they are not just
breaking international law, they’re breaking Canadian law;
right?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Correct.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: And so then the question
that I think we’d like to have some guidance on is, what are
the consequences for breaking Canadian law for a foreign
diplomat? If a foreign diplomat breaks Canadian law by

funding a campaign; paying for a campaign event; providing
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funding to a political party; any one of a number of
activities either prohibited by international directly, or
specifically by prohibitions in the Elections Act, what flows
as a consequence? Are they charged; are they prosecuted; are
they expelled; are they cautioned? Could you please tell us?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: So a lot will
depend on the specific violation and that would -- in terms
of actual violations of law, if that becomes a criminal
offence, for instance, that would fall under the purview of
the RCMP or police of jurisdiction -- in this case probably
the RCMP -- to investigate. But -- so a lot would -- I guess
I would just say without having a specific example, a lot
would depend on the case, the evidence behind it, and then
the consequences would flow from that.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: And they might be
expelled, or asked to leave?

MS. CINDY TERMORSHUIZEN: Again, I don’t want
to speculate on the particular situation but there certainly
is a provision that would enable a diplomat to be expelled if
the conditions warranted that.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: And then what...

MR. MATTHEW FERGUSON: Excuse me.

MR. SUJIT CHOUDHRY: Yes.

MR. MATTHEW FERGUSON: We’re just getting a
mess